
TCEQ Interoffice Memorandum 

  

To: Tucker Royall, General Counsel 
 Greg Merrell, Assistant General Counsel 
 
From: Elizabeth Harkrider, Staff Attorney 
 Litigation Division 

Thru: Lena Roberts, Staff Attorney 
 Agenda Coordinator, Litigation Division 

 Kathleen Decker, Director 
 Litigation Division 

Date: November 19, 2015 

Subject: Request for Setting on the December 9, 2015 Commission Agenda 
 Order Dismissing Agreed Order concerning Donald Burkhardt 

d/b/a Clearwood Recycling Center 
 Docket No. 2005-0959-MLM-E 

Requested Commission Action 
The Executive Director respectfully requests that the Commission approve the Order 
Dismissing Agreed Order attached hereto as “Attachment 1” (the “Proposed Order”). 

Background/Summary of Request 
Donald Burkhardt d/b/a Clearwood Recycling Center (“Respondent”) owns an unauthorized 
municipal solid waste (“MSW”) disposal site located at 9520 Easthaven Boulevard in 
Houston, Harris County, Texas (the “Site”). 

Following an investigation at the Site on January 19 and 20, 2005, Respondent was the 
subject of formal enforcement in Docket No. 2005-0959-MLM-E.  At its October 24, 2007 
agenda meeting, the Commission approved an Agreed Order in this matter for alleged 
violations of the MSW and used oil provisions of TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE chs. 361 and 371 
and TCEQ Rules (the “Agreed Order”).  A copy of the Agreed Order is attached to the 
Proposed Order as “Exhibit A.”  Prior to the October 24, 2007 agenda meeting, two State 
Legislators, Representative Garnet F. Coleman and Senator Mario Gallegos, and four private 
individuals communicated to the TCEQ an interest in bringing the Site into compliance, 
citing concerns of vectors, fire hazard, soil contamination, and property depreciation, among 
other concerns.  The Agreed Order required Respondent to pay an administrative penalty in 
the amount of $6,774.00 and implement technical requirements.  Respondent paid the 
administrative penalty but failed to complete all of the technical requirements.   

On July 1, 2009, on behalf of the Commission, the Office of the Attorney General (“OAG”) 
filed suit against Respondent in District Court in pursuit of civil penalties and injunctive relief 
for Respondent’s failure to comply with the technical requirements contained in the Agreed 
Order and TCEQ Rules adopted pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE chs. 361 and 371.  On 
June 17, 2010, following a trial on the merits, the OAG, on behalf of the State of Texas, 
obtained a Final Judgment against Respondent in Cause No. D-1-GV-09-001190 of the 201st 
District Court (the “Judgment”), a copy of which is attached to the Proposed Order as 
“Exhibit B.”  The Judgment awarded to the State civil penalties and attorneys’ fees totaling 
$51,425 and ordered Respondent to implement technical requirements contained in the 
Agreed Order.  Judgment liens were placed on Respondent’s eligible properties in Brazoria 
and Harris Counties.  Copies of the Abstracts of Judgment perfecting the judgment liens in 
Brazoria and Harris Counties are attached hereto as “Attachment 2.”
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On October 19, 2011, the Houston Regional Office conducted a follow-up investigation of the 
Site and documented that the technical requirements of the Agreed Order pertaining to the 
removal and proper disposal of waste from the Site, the submittal of an Affected Property 
Assessment Report (“APAR”), and completion of any necessary response actions remained 
outstanding due to the large quantity of waste that remained at the Site, as shown in the 
photographs attached hereto as “Attachment 3.”  To date, Respondent has failed to comply 
with all of the technical requirements contained in the Agreed Order.  The Executive Director 
determined, upon the advice of the OAG, that further pursuit of enforcement through a 
contempt action would be futile due to circumstances personal to Respondent and would not 
constitute an efficient use of agency resources.  The Executive Director has exhausted all 
practicable enforcement remedies available against Respondent.   

U-Pull-And-Pay LLC (“Applicant”) signed a Purchase and Sale Agreement with Respondent 
for the Site and reports that it is currently conducting due diligence activities.1  There is no 
affiliation between Respondent and Applicant, nor any of its managing officers.  On 
November 18, 2015, Applicant submitted an application to remediate the Site under the 
oversight of the TCEQ Remediation Division through the Voluntary Cleanup Program 
(“VCP”).  Applicant has demonstrated a desire to invest its resources toward bringing the 
Site in to compliance with applicable environmental rules and regulations, even though 
Applicant is not responsible for the current conditions at the Site.  Remediation under the 
oversight of the VCP will address the outstanding technical requirements contained in the 
Agreed Order regarding remediation of the Site.  

As set forth in the attached Proposed Order, by statute a site is ineligible for remediation 
under the VCP if it is subject to a Commission order.  The Agreed Order is still in effect, as 
its terms provide that it will not terminate until Respondent complies with all ordering 
provisions, including the still-outstanding technical requirements.  Therefore, the Site is 
currently ineligible for remediation by Applicant under the VCP because it is subject to the 
Agreed Order.  Upon dismissal of the Agreed Order, the Site will become eligible for 
remediation under the VCP.  

It is the Executive Director’s position that dismissal of the Agreed Order is appropriate at 
this time, not for the purpose of alleviating Respondent of his responsibility to complete the 
technical requirements contained in the Agreed Order, but for the purpose of fulfilling the 
TCEQ’s statutory responsibility under TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE chs. 361 and 371 to control 
all aspects of the management of MSW by all practical and economically feasible methods 
and to ensure reasonable management and safety standards for the handling of used oil. 
Dismissal of the Agreed Order will not affect the validity of the Judgment or the liens 
securing the civil penalties and attorney’s fees awarded therein, as the Judgment is not 
premised on the existence of the Agreed Order.  Dismissal of the Agreed Order would clear 
the only obstacle toward the implementation of a practical solution to ongoing violations of 
waste rules and regulations that have persisted for over a decade at the Site despite TCEQ 
enforcement efforts. 

Enclosed please find the following: 

Attachment 1: 
Proposed Order Dismissing Agreed Order with Exhibits “A” (2007 Agreed Order) and “B” 
(2010 District Court Judgment) 

Attachment 2: 
Copies of the Abstracts of Judgment filed in Brazoria and Harris Counties 

                                    
1 Specifically, Applicant reports that an evaluation of conditions at the Site is underway and that it obtained 

regulatory approvals from the City of Houston pertaining to the Site. 
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Attachment 3: 
Investigation photographs taken October 19, 2011 

Respondent Contact: 
Donald Burkhardt 
2404 Taylor Lane 
Pearland, Texas 77581  

Applicant Contact: 
Susan Litherland, P.E. 
S.Q. Environmental, LLC 
P.O. Box 1991 
Austin, Texas 78767-1991  
Phone: (512) 656-9445 
Email: S.Litherland@SQEnv.com  

Please do not hesitate to call me at (512) 239-2008 if you have any questions regarding this 
matter. 

cc: Keith Frank, Enforcement Division 
 Jason Ybarra, Houston Regional Office 
 Vic McWherter, Public Interest Counsel 
 Lena Roberts, Litigation Division 

Stuart Beckley, Enforcement Division 
Gill Valls, Office of the General Counsel 
Donald Burkhardt, Respondent 
Susan Litherland, P.E., S.Q. Environmental, LLC  
 

  

mailto:S.Litherland@SQEnv.com


 

 

ATTACHMENT 1: 
Proposed Order 

  



TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 
 

 
 

IN THE MATTER OF AN 
ENFORCEMENT ACTION 

CONCERNING  
DONALD BURKHARDT DBA 

CLEARWOOD RECYCLING CENTER; 
RN102952785 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

BEFORE THE  
 

TEXAS COMMISSION ON 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

ORDER DISMISSING AGREED ORDER 

DOCKET NO. 2005-0959-MLM-E 

On  , the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality 
(“TCEQ” or “Commission”) considered whether to dismiss the Agreed Order issued by the 
Commission against Donald Burkhardt d/b/a Clearwood Recycling Center (“Respondent”) in 
TCEQ Docket No. 2005-0959-MLM-E (the “Agreed Order”).  The Agreed Order resulted from 
an enforcement action brought under the authority of TEX. WATER CODE ch. 7 and TEX. HEALTH 
& SAFETY CODE chs. 361 and 371.  The Executive Director of the TCEQ, represented by the 
Litigation Division, presented this Order Dismissing Agreed Order to the Commission.  

 The Commission makes the following Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law: 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. On October 24, 2007, the Commission approved the Agreed Order, a copy of which 
is attached hereto as “Exhibit A” and incorporated herein for all purposes.  The 
Agreed Order became effective on or about November 9, 2007.   

2. The Agreed Order concerned an enforcement action in which the Executive Director 
alleged that Respondent, as owner and operator of a recycling facility located at 
9520 Easthaven Boulevard in Houston, Harris County, Texas (the “Site”), violated 
the municipal solid waste (“MSW”) and used oil provisions of TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY 
CODE chs. 361 and 371, 40 C.F.R., Part 279, and TCEQ Rules.   

3. The Agreed Order required Respondent to perform certain corrective actions at the 
Site and to pay an administrative penalty in the amount of six thousand seven 
hundred seventy-four dollars ($6,774.00).  Respondent paid the administrative 
penalty in full. 

4. On June 17, 2010, following a trial on the merits in Cause No. D-1-GV-09-001190, 
the 201st Travis County District Court signed a final judgment (the “Judgment”), 
ordering Respondent to perform certain corrective actions at the Site in accordance 
with provisions of 30 TEX. ADMIN. CODE chs. 328 and 330 and the corrective actions 
required in the Agreed Order.  The Judgment is attached hereto as “Exhibit B” and 
incorporated herein for all purposes.   

5. Due to exceptional circumstances, including the old age and failing health of 
Respondent, the Executive Director determined that further action to compel 
compliance with the Agreed Order would not be productive. 

6. Pursuant to Section I, Paragraph No. 10 of the Agreed Order, the Agreed Order will 
not terminate until Respondent demonstrates compliance with all of the terms and 
conditions set forth therein, which includes completion of the corrective actions. 
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7. Respondent has failed to comply with the corrective action ordering provisions 
required in the Agreed Order.  

8. U-Pull-And-Pay LLC (“Applicant”) submitted an application to remediate the Site 
under the oversight of the Voluntary Cleanup Program (“VCP”) of the TCEQ 
Remediation Division.  Remediation under the oversight of the VCP will satisfy the 
technical requirements of the Agreed Order that address remediation of the property. 

9. The Site is currently ineligible for participation in the VCP because it is subject to the 
Agreed Order.  

10. The Site would be eligible for participation in the VCP if the Agreed Order is 
terminated. 

11. Applicant did not contribute to those conditions at the Site which formed the basis 
for the violations alleged in the Agreed Order. 

12. Good cause exists to dismiss the Agreed Order for the purpose of allowing Applicant 
to implement proper remedial measures at the Site under the VCP. 

II.   CONCLUSIONS OF LAW  

1. As evidenced by Finding of Fact No. 6, the Agreed Order will not terminate until 
Respondent completes the corrective actions required therein.   

2. As evidenced by Finding of Fact No. 7, Respondent has failed to comply with the 
corrective action ordering provisions required in the Agreed Order. 

3. As evidenced by Finding of Fact No. 8, Applicant submitted an application to 
remediate the Site under the oversight of the VCP. 

4. As evidenced by Finding of Fact No. 9 and pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE 
§ 361.603(a), the Site is currently ineligible for the VCP because it is subject to the 
Agreed Order. 

5. Pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 361.603, the Site will become eligible for the 
VCP on dismissal of the Agreed Order. 

6. Pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 361.011, the Commission is responsible for 
the management of MSW, and shall control all aspects of the management of MSW 
by all practical and economically feasible methods consistent with its powers and 
duties. 

7. Pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 371.206, the Commission is responsible for 
ensuring reasonable management and safety standards for the handling of used oil. 

8. Pursuant to TEX. HEALTH & SAFETY CODE § 361.011(c) and TEX. WATER CODE § 5.102(a), 
the Commission has the powers to perform any acts necessary and convenient to the 
exercise of its jurisdiction and powers.  
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III. ORDERING PROVISIONS 

NOW, THEREFORE, THE TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ORDERS that: 

1. The Agreed Order (Docket No. 2005-0959-MLM-E) approved by the Commission on 
October 24, 2007, is hereby dismissed. 

2. The Chief Clerk shall provide a copy of this Order Dismissing Agreed Order to each of 
the parties.   

3. The effective date of this Order is the date it is signed by the Commission.  A copy of 
this fully-executed Order Dismissing Agreed Order shall be provided to each of the 
parties.  

TEXAS COMMISSION ON ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY 

 
 
 
    
For the Commission Date 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT A 
Agreed Order: 2005-0959-MLM-E 

  





















 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 
Judgment: Cause No. D-1-GV-09-001190 

 











 

 

ATTACHMENT 2: 
Abstracts of Judgment 

  













 

 

ATTACHMENT 3: 
Investigation Photographs taken October 19, 2011 
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Order Type: 
Order Dismissing Agreed Order 

Media: 
MSW and Used Oil 

Small Business: 
N/A  

Location(s) Where Violation(s) Occurred: 
9520 Easthaven Boulevard, Houston, Harris County 

Type of Operation: 
unauthorized disposal site 

Other Significant Matters: 
Additional Pending Enforcement Actions: None  
Past-Due Penalties: None  
Past-Due Fees: None  

Other: An Agreed Order for this case was approved by the Commission on October 24, 2007.  
Respondent paid the administrative penalty but failed to perform the technical 
requirements, and the Office of the Attorney General (“OAG”) filed a civil enforcement suit 
on behalf of the Commission on July 1, 2009.  Following a trial on the merits, a final 
judgment was issued against Donald Burkhardt (“Respondent”) on June 17, 2010, ordering 
compliance with the Agreed Order’s technical requirements and payment of $45,500.00 in 
civil penalties to the State of Texas.  A judgment lien was perfected against eligible 
property owned by Respondent by the filing of Abstracts of Judgment in the official public 
records of Brazoria and Harris Counties.  The ED has exhausted all practical remedies 
against Respondent to compel compliance with the Agreed Order’s outstanding technical 
requirements to no avail.  Due to circumstances personal to Respondent, additional 
enforcement remedies typically available to the ED are impracticable in this case.  The 
Executive Director has determined, upon the advice of the OAG, that further pursuit of 
enforcement through a contempt action would be futile, and would not constitute an 
efficient use of agency resources.  The Agreed Order is still in effect. 

 Prior to October 14, 2015, U-Pull-And-Pay LLC (“Applicant”) contracted to purchase the 
Site.  On November 18, 2015, Applicant submitted its application to remediate the Site 
under the State’s Voluntary Cleanup Program (“VCP”).  By statute, Applicant may not be 
accepted into the VCP if the Agreed Order continues to be in effect.  If Applicant is 
accepted for the VCP, Applicant will address the outstanding technical requirements 
contained in the Agreed Order regarding remediation of the Site.  There is no affiliation 
between Respondent and Applicant, nor any of its managing officers.  Applicant did not 
contribute to the violations or the contamination at the Site. 

Interested Third-Parties: U-Pull-And-Pay LLC 

Texas Register Publication Date: November 6, 2015 

Comments Received:  None  
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Technical Requirements in the Agreed Order Which Remain Outstanding:  

1. Removal of all waste from the Site to a permitted landfill, authorized recycling facility, or an 
authorized mulching facility for the wood debris; and 

2. Submission of an Affected Property Assessment Report for the contaminated soil adjacent to the 
secondary containment and workshop areas. 

Contact Information 

TCEQ Attorneys: Elizabeth Harkrider, Litigation Division, (512) 239-3400 
 Lena Roberts, Litigation Division, (512) 239-3400 
 Vic McWherter, Public Interest Counsel, (512) 239-6363 

TCEQ Enforcement Coordinator: Keith Frank, Enforcement Division, (512) 239-2545  

TCEQ Regional Contact: Jason Ybarra, Houston Regional Office, (713) 767-3500 

Respondent Contact: Donald Burkhardt, 2404 Taylor Lane, Pearland, Texas, 77581  

Applicant Contact: Susan Litherland, P.E., S.Q. Environmental, LLC, P.O. Box 1991, Austin, Texas 
78767-1991; s.litherland@sqenv.com 




